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1. Name

historic .N. A.

and/or common Preston City Historic District

street & number Amos Road, Old Shetucket Road, Northwest Corner Road JSUAoot for publication

city, town

and Route 164

Preafrm______ j/icinity of

state Connecticut code county LonHnn code

3. Classification
Category

X district
building(s)
structure

__ site 
object

Ownership
X public

_ X, private 
_JL both 
Public Acquisition 

in process
__ being considered

N.A.

Status
_ & occupied 
_ K unoccupied 

work in progress .
Accessible
_ X. yes: restricted 

yes: unrestricted
no

Present Use
agriculture

X commercial
JC. educational 
__ entertainment 

government
__ Industrial 

military

r-

^ museum
.X _ park 
X _ private residence 
.X _ religious 

scientific
__ transportation 

other:

4. Owner of Property

name___Multiple public and private

street & number_See continuation sheet.

city, town Preston .vicinity of state Connecticut

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Town Clerk's Office, Preston Town Hall

street & number

city, town Preston state Conne c t icu±

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title State Register of Historic Places has this property been determined eligible? yes X no

date 1986 federal _X_ state county local

depository for survey records H-f«t-nrH~o *^ , SQ snitt. h Sfrgp.tr..

''*y' town state



7. Description

Condition

_X~ excellent 
--X- - good

T--*£fn

__ L-faJr

__ deteriorated 
_ . ruins

unexposed

Check one 
_ .. unaltered 
Y altered
A

Check one
.X- original site 

moved date .......

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Preston City Historic District is located about five miles east of Norwich, 
Connecticut, just south of the intersection of State Routes 164 and 165. It contains a 
small cluster of historic residential, institutional, and commercial buildings built in 
the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries and several historic sites. They are located 
along three principal streets: Old Shetucket, Northwest Corner, and Amos roads and a 
small section of Route 164.

Prior to the 1930s Old Shetucket and Amos roads were major thoroughfares. They are now 
bypassed by Routes 165 and 164, respectively, thus preserving the historic core of Old 
Preston City. Northwest Corner Road was laid out in 1697 as a principal route to 
Stonington. The road from Norwich to Preston City to the Meetinghouse (the site of the 
present Baptist Church) was laid out in the 1690s. It became the Shetucket Turnpike in 
1829. In 1922 this road was surfaced as State Route 165. Route 164 was established in 
the 1930s, with its bypass of Amos Road built in 1935.

The district contains a high concentration of contributing resources (25/30 or 83%). The 
only two modern intrusions are residences on Northwest Corner Road and Old Shetucket 
Turnpike (Inventory #9, 12).* In addition to the historic houses, the district includes a 
church, a library, a blacksmith*s shop and a store, and several barns. A former tavern 
and the town poorhouse, both now used as residences, are also contained in the district. 
The Old Town Pound on Amos Road, a stone-walled enclosure, also contributes to the 
historic rural character of the village.

All of the buildings are of wood-frame construction. The houses are generally 
post-and-beam framed, two-and-one-half story buildings with gable roofs and clapboard 
siding. The foundations of the buildings are granite rubble or gabbro, an igneous rock 
common to the Preston area. A few of the later nineteenth-century buildings have brick 
foundations.

One building dates from the early eighteenth century, the town poorhouse, at the southern 
boundary, of the district (Inventory #1; Photograph #1). The north end of the building 
was built by Ephraim Jones in 1733; the south end was added in 1807 by the town as a 
workhouse, producing an extended gable-roofed building with two entrances, two chimneys, 
and an irregular fenestration pattern 'on the long facade which faces Amos Road. Across 
the road is the Town Pound, established in the seventeenth century. Its dry-laid stone 
walls have been maintained by the town (Inventory #2; Photograph #2).

Several houses were built just prior to the Revolution, including the James Treat House 
(Inventory #6; Photograph #3) and the Mott and Downer House (Inventory //7; Photograph
#4). The older section of the Treat House was built about 1760 by Sylvester Baldwin, a 
merchant. In 1800 James Treat added the larger main gable-roofed block with exposed 
western foundation of brick; it contains the tap room entrance with a full-height Dutch 
door. The facade is distinguished by unusual, flared window lintels and curved flush 
boarding around the entrance door, both set flush with the clapboards. A barn with a 
cupola is located at the northeast of the property. The Mott and Downer House, a 
five-bay colonial, has a pedimented projecting pavilion at the center of the facade, a 
side entrance on the east side, and an added lean-to at the rear. The pavilion is a 
typical feature found in several other houses in the district and elsewhere in Preston.

* Please see footnote 4,7:5
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The entrance on the eastern side and at the main door have a six-light transom; the main 
entrance has a Federal-style door surround with an extended entablature and narrow 
pilasters. A large central stone chimney stack with a lA-square-foot base extends to the 
roof line. Above the roof it is constructed of brick.

A similar pedimented pavilion is found on a more detailed Georgian colonial house built 
between 1786 and 1800 by Calvin Barstow (Inventory #5; Photograph #5). The doorway here 
is grander in style with bolder molding and a narrower entablature. Special interior 
features include an arched ceiling in the south chamber on the second floor, a room used 
for the meeting hall of the St. James Masonic Lodge. Masonic emblems are stenciled on 
the border of the floor of both this chamber and the adjacent anteroom. The property is 
set off by a simple picket fence of wood on a stone retaining wall.

Other houses built in Preston City around the turn of the century include several 
unadorned colonial farmhouses such as the one built with a double overhang by Thomas 
Meech (Inventory #10; Photograph #6) on Northwest Corner Road at the eastern boundary of 
the district. Dry-laid stone walls add to the historic appearance of the site.

By the 1830s most of the remaining existing buildings in the district had been 
constructed, primarily in the Federal and Greek Revival styles. No two of these are 
alike, although several show similar architectural characteristics such as a Palladian 

  window and hip roof that are found on the 1830 Reverend Augustus Collins house and the 
1828 David Baldwin House (Inventory #13, 26; Photograph #7). A distinctive feature of 
another transitional Federal/Greek Revival-style house, the Mundator T. Richards House 
built in 1834, is the exceptional design of the fanlight in the gable peak. It is 
divided into segments rather than the more conventional radial pattern (Inventory #23; 
Photograph #8). Heavy modillions are used around the gable pediment and under the eaves, 
a transitional Greek Revival-style doorway is set off-center in the asymmetrical gable 
facade. A Greek Revival farmhouse of the ridge-to-street form with a pedimented gable at 
either end is found on Northwest Corner Road (Inventory #8; Photograph #9). It was built 
by Aron (sic) B. Gates about 1830. The Baptist Parsonage on Amos Corner Road, also built 
in this period, displays small attic windows of the type commonly found on the wing of a 
Greek Revival farmhouse (Inventory #4). It is otherwise plainly constructed in no 
particular style.

In the latter part of the nineteenth century several vernacular houses were constructed 
in the district. They are quite typical of the farmhouses built in Connecticut in this 
period with a gable end facing the road. One is located between Amos Road and the Route 
164 bypass; two others are located on either side of Old Shetucket Turnpike (Inventory 
#18, 14, 15).

The Baptist Church, a focal point of the district, was erected in 1812 (Inventory #20; 
Photograph #10). In 1832 it was turned to its present orientation to have the gable end 
face the road (Route 164) and the three-stage steeple and bell tower with a pyramidal 
roof were added. Elongated outbuildings to the rear (west) of the building may be part 
of the original horse or carriage sheds which were built in 1867. Similar sheds to the 
north of the church were demolished in 1984.
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In addition to the blacksmith's shop built by Morrison Robbins in 1871, now operated as a 
demonstration museum (Inventory #16; Photograph #11), only one other historic building 
was constructed in the district in the late nineteenth century, the Preston Library, with 
its small tower on the south and hipped-roof facade porch (Inventory #24; Photograph 
#12). This shingle-sided building more resembles a residence of the period of the Queen 
Anne/Colonial Revival style and presents quite a contrast to the other buildings in the 
district.

In front of the library is a Civil War monument and Mott Memorial, which marks the site 
of General Samuel Mott's house, Preston City's Revolutionary War hero (Inventory #25); 
the memorial is one of two in the district. The other is a Revolutionary War memorial at 
the intersection of Old Shetucket Road and Route 165 (Inventory #17) . The latter is 
composed of a stone column (said to have been a roller used to compact the snow on the 
roads in the colonial period) set on old millstone for a base. Another site of interest 
is the watering trough for horses built by a private citizen in 1918 at the side of the 
road and donated to the town. Adjacent to the horse trough is the only historic 
commercial building still standing in the district, the Bennett Store, which operated as 
a general store for about 40 years (Inventory #21). The present structure was built in 
1922 on the foundations of the 1795 James Treat Store, which was destroyed by fire. The 
store has recently been converted to residential use.

Downer-Doane Memorial Park at the southwest corner of the Shetucket Turnpike and Route 
164 completes the district. Named for the owner/builder of the house and store that were 
destroyed when the bypass of Route 164 was constructed, the park is maintained by the 
Preston Historical Society.

A complete inventory of the district follows, including a brief descriptions, dates of 
construction, styles, block/lot numbers, and owners.
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^nyentory of Buildings and Sites with Owners' names and addresses* 

Inv. // Map/Lot Street ____Name/Style/Pate_____Qwner(s)_________Address ___ C/NC

2.

3.

13:21 Amos Road

13:26 Amos Road

13:26 Amos Road

EPHRAIM JONES HOUSE/ Robert & Ann Frank 
POORHOUSE . 
Colonial, 1733, 1807

TOWN POUND, ca. 1700 Preston City Baptist
Church

Late 19th-d. barn "

RFD //I

RFD #1

4. 13:27 Amos Road

5. 13:32 Amos Road

6. 13:34 Amos Road

6a. (Barn) 

7. 13:7

8.

8a. (Barn)

9.

BAPTIST PARSONAGE " 
19th. c. vernacular

CALVIN BARSTOW HOUSE Kerry & Shirley 
Georgian Colonial Gentry 
1786/1800

SYLVESTER BALDWIN/ Frederick and Mary 
JAMES TREAT HOUSE Mahler 
Colonial, ca. 1750/1800, 
with barn, ca. 1900

Northwest MOTT and DOWNER HOUSE William & Pitti 
Corner Road Colonial, 1765 Champagne

13:13 Northwest ARON B. GATES HOUSE Dorothy Bennett 
Corner Road Greek Revival, ca.

1830 with barn, ca . 1900

10.

11.

12.

13:17 Northwest
Corner Road

13:21 Northwest
Corner Road

Modern residence 
ca. 1955

Alfred & Doris 
Baton

THOMAS MEECH HOUSE Richmond & Joan 
Colonial/Federal Smith

13:7

1795 

Shetucket Road Gambrel, 1811 Wilmot & Judith 
Bogue

RFD #1 

RFD #1

RFD #3

RFD #3 

RFD #3

RFD #3 

RFD #3

RFD #3

C 

C

C

NC

13:9 Shetucket Road Modern residence Edward Carpenter 3906 Santa Fe, NC
Lahton, OK 

0>

13, . 13:10 Shetucket Road REV. AUGUSTUS COLLDJS George & Careen RFD #3 C
HOUSE, Greek Revival, Jennings 
ca. 1830

* All addresses Norwich, Connecticut 06360 unless otherwise given.
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Inventory of Buildings and Sites with Owners' names and addresses (Continued)

14. 13:17 Shetucket
14a. (Barn)

15* 13:22 Shetucket

16. 13:23 Shetucket

Road 19th-c. domestic Dwight & Roger
with barn, ca. 1890 Robbins.

Road DEACON WILLIAM Robert & Liane
LORING HOUSE Giordani 
19th-c. domestic, 1874

Road MORRISON ROBBINS Albert & Joyce
BLACKSMITH SHOP, 1871 Stefferson

17. Shetucket Road Revolutionary War 
Memorial, 1967

Town of Preston

18. 13: 290 Route 164

19. 13:291 Route 164

20. 13:293 Route 164

21. 13:294 Route 164

E. DOANE HOUSE Diane Fowkes 
20th-c. domestic, ca. 1930

DOWNER-DOANE PARK* 
after 1967
BAPTIST CHURCH 
Federal, 1812/1832

Town of Preston

Preston City 
Baptist Church

22.  

23. 13:297

23a. (Barn)

24. 13:296

Route 164 

Route 164

Route 164

BENNETT STORE, 1922 Jean and William
Vos

Watering Trough, 1918 Town of Preston

MUNDATOR T. RICHARDS William & Sara 
HOUSE, Federal/Greek Quinn 
Revival, 1834 with barn, ca. 1900

PRESTON LIBRARY 
Queen Anne, 1898

Town of Preston

25. 13:296 Route 164

26. 13.300 Route 164

Civil War Monument Town of Preston 
and Mott Memorial, 1898

RFD #3

RFD #3 C

RFD #3 NC

RFD //3 NC

RFD #3 NC 

RFD #3 C

21 Mains C
Crossing Rd.
No. Stonington, CT

RFD #3

RFD //I

RFD #-3

RFD #3

DAVID BALDWIN HOUSE Dwight & Ann Way RFD #3 
Federal, 1828 .

As of December 4, 1986, a modern house has been constructed on Lot 13:22 which adds one 
more non-contributing building to the district.



8. Significance
Period

prehistoric
1400-1499
1500-1 599

X 1600-1699
_JL 1700-1799 
_J^ 1800-1899 
_^_1900-

Areas of Significance   Check
archeology-prehistoric _._ 
archeology-historic
agriculture

X architecture
art

commerce

communications

and justify below
community planning 
conservation 
economics 
education 
engineering 
exploration/settlement 
industry 
invention

_ landscape architecture.
law
literature

,..,..',.. military
__ _ music 

........ philosophy
politics/government

religion 
science 
sculpture 
social/ 
humanitarian 
theater 
transportation 
other (specify)

Specific dates ca . 1700 _ 1922 Builder/Architect yarious unknown__________________

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

An exceptionally well-preserved, cohesive entity, the Preston City Historic District 
contains a very high concentration of historic contributing buildings and sites dating 
from the late seventeenth to the twentieth centuries which are distinguished by an 
excellent state of preservation and superior craftsmanship (Criterion C). Of particular 
significance is the small collection of houses built by prosperous farmers and merchant- 
traders, which are influenced by the Georgian, Federal, and Greek Revival styles. 
Established as the center of a rural township in the seventeenth century, Preston City 
remains the focus of an agricultural community which has been rural for its entire 
history. The buildings contained within the district include an exceptional range of 
type and style, all associated with the historical development of the area, including 
residential, institutional, and commercial buildings dating from about 1730 to 1922 
(Criterion A).

History

Soon after the settlement of Norwich in 1659, Norwich proprietors began to clear and 
cultivate the Xand east of the Norwich bounds, Preston, which then included the town of 
Grlswold, formally became a township in 1686 when almost 30 families living in the area 
petitioned the General Court. Two of the earliest remaining historic resources from this 
period are the Town Pound, a stone wall enclosure which has been maintained on Amos Road 
at the southern boundary of the district (Inventory #2; Photograph #2), and the earlier 
section of the Poor Farm built in 1733 by Ephraim Jones across the road (Inventory #1; 
Photograph //I) .

For its first 200 years Preston was an important town in the market region which supplied 
the port of Norwich on the Thames River. Farm products and cattle grown in Preston were 
carried to market by wagon along the course of the Shetucket Turnpike (now Route 165) to 
Norwich for consumption in the town. By 1750 Preston*s farm goods were transshipped to 
East Coast ports. Dairy products, livestock, pork, potatoes, and lumber were traded for 
sugar, cotton, rum, and molasses from the West Indies through the riverport.

The economy of the Norwich riverport flourished between the Revolutionary War and about 
1830. The resultant prosperity was reflected in the architecture of Preston City, 
Most of the houses built in the Georgian, Federal, and Greek Revival styles in this 
period were owned by prosperous farmers and merchants, including James Treat, Mundator 
Richards, and James Baldwin. Both Treat and Richards maintained a store in the district; 
Treat's advertisements contained references to West and East Indian goods along with 
European imports. The site of his store is now occupied by the Bennett Store, built in 
1922 after the original building burned.

As in many of New England's smaller communities which had an agricultural base, Preston's 
population declined in the early nineteenth century, then stabilized between 1850 and
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1900. While the farming economy continued to prosper, it never returned to the level 
achieved in the earlier part of the century. New houses were constructed in the 
district, however, mostly gable-roofed farmhouses of the vernacular type, commonly found 
in Connecticut in this period.

The Federal and State Land Bank Associations and the Farm Credit Bureau were an important 
part of Preston 1 s continuing farming economy in the twentieth century. The Grange 
evolved into the Farmer's Institute, a successful buying cooperative. Poultry raised 
primarily for eggs, dairy cattle, and lumbering were the principal products. Clifford 
Bennett's store, a general store supplying farming families with food as well as small 
farming equipment, is the only historic resource remaining from this period. It also 
served as Preston f s Post Office prior to the rural free delivery system.

Architecture

The Preston City Historic District conveys a distinct sense of time and place with its 
focus on the early nineteenth century. Although the original layout of the area has been 
somewhat altered by the construction of the Routes 164 and 165 bypasses, the district 
remains a rural crossroads. Its resources have been protected. There is very little 
modern intrusion and limited commercial development. The houses and the associated 
institutional buildings in the district are well-preserved. The simplest farmhouse to 
the more elaborate residences of the merchants display exceptional external integrity. 
This combination of circumstances has allowed Preston City to remain as an important 
representative example of early nineteenth-century rural Connecticut history.

Although unity and cohesion are achieved by a similarity of materials, form, and some 
instances of shared architectural characteristics, the Preston City Historic District is 
distinguished by a rich variety, with many examples of one type, style, or function. An 
analysis, of the district's architectural significance, therefore, must deal with the 
historic resources on an almost individual basis.

The Ephraim Jones House is a rare survivor from the early eighteenth century in 
exceptionally good condition (Inventory #1; Photograph //I). So well-preserved, or 
restored, is this building and its 1807 addition, that without some knowledge of its 
history, it would be difficult to identify which end of the house was built in 1733, an 
effect enhanced by the similarity of fenestration and the almost identical, later 
Federal-style doorways.

Equally well-preserved are the houses built by Mott and Downer and James Treat. Both 
these pre-Revolutionary houses display all their original exterior features. Artificial 
siding recently removed from the Mott and Downer House has revealed its apparently 
original clapboards, a rehabilitation which allows the simple lines of the building to 
emerge (Inventory #7; Photograph #4). The mere suggestion of a central pavilion is 
enhanced by the vertical corner boards (on both the house and the pavilion) revealed in 
the process. Although the pavilion is a relatively common architectural feature in 
Preston, and more elaborated elsewhere in the district, this example may be the earliest
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in the area. It is a distinctive feature rarely found in combination with the added 
lean-to, which gives this house its salt-box form. The Treat House is another example of 
two distinct builds (1760, 1800) (Inventory #6; Photographs #3, 3a). In this case, the 
later addition overwhelms and almost hides the original house. The largest of the 
district T s residences, it has a visually prominent position as well. The significance of 
this house is enhanced by the unusual shape of the flush-board trim on the facade, 
features displaying a certain naivete, certainly the work of a local carpenter. A more 
traditional example of local craftsmanship is found at the east end of the district in 
the three-bay, Thomas Meech House (Inventory #10; Photograph #6). The facade overhang, a 
particularly late use (1795), is unique to the district.

Immediately across the road from the Treat House is a more sophisticated interpretation 
of the Mott and Downer House. Built by a merchant, Calvin Barstow, about 1800, it is a 
fully-realized example of Georgian/Federal style architecture in an exceptional state of 
preservation, both inside and out (Inventory #5; Photograph #5). Again, it is the only 
house of its type and style in the district, and clearly the most architecturally 
distinguished.

The David Baldwin House, also built by a merchant of some means, is the best example of 
the Federal style in the district (Inventory #26; Photograph #7). A fine example of the 
period, enhanced by its setting above the road, it has none of the unusual vernacular 
features that characterize Preston City's architecture. With its Palladian windows and 
columned portico it resembles many houses built in Connecticut at this time. Another 
house of conventional style, again one-of-a-kind, is the well-preserved Greek 
Revival-style Aron B. Gates House (Inventory #8; Photograph #9). It does, however, 
contribute to the exceptional range of style found in the district.

Of all the commercial and institutional buildings at the heart of the district, the 
Baptist Church occupies the most prominent position (Inventory #20; Photograph #10). It 
is visible from almost everywhere in Preston City. The simplicity of form and detail of 
the 1812 main block make a marked contrast with its elaborated bell tower, clearly 
identifying the tower as a later addition (1832), mute testimony to the district's 
continued prosperity at this time. The much later library (1895) and twentieth-century 
store (1922) across the street to the east, and the blacksmith shop, directly west of the 
church, complete this grouping. Although the library might be mistaken for a residence, 
the rest of these buildings are functionally explicit, architectural examples of each 
type. Even though the store, the last building to be constructed in the district, has 
been converted to a residence, the conversion has been accomplished without compromising 
its straightforward function and form.

Of the two commemorative memorials in the district, only one makes a significant contri­ 
bution to the district, the Civil War Monument and Mott Memorial built in 1898. Both the 
Revolutionary War Memorial and the Downer-Doane Park nearby are of recent vintage (1967) 
and do not meet National Register criteria for the quality of design or symbolic value.
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See continuation sheet.
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Verbal Boundary Description and Justification

The boundaries of the Preston City Historic District were drawn to encompass the maximum 
number of historic resources that were-associated with the development of this rural center 
between ca. 1700 to 1922. Isolated from modern development by the construction of the by­ 
passes of State Routes 164 and 165 on the north and part of the west side, the district is 
also bounded by these highways, with the exception of a portion of Route 164 that follows tti 
path of the former Amos Road through the village center from south to north. On the east si 
of the district, the boundaries were established on Northwest Corner Road by the inclusion o 
the last contiguous historic property. Beyond this point is another historic property, ap­ 
proximately 1000 yards to the east on the same side of the road, but it is not visible from 
the district. The southern boundary on Amps Road was established at the Poorhouse and Town 
Pound because of modern residential construction below this point. The northern terminus 
was established to exclude modern residential and commerical development above the district, 
beyond the David Baldwin House on the east side. Because the district was historically a 
rural area with large lots containing outbuildings and open land, all the historic propertie 
are included in their entirety as described below.

Description: All lots cited here: are located on Tax Assessor's Map-13 in the Tax Assessor' 
Office of the Preston Town^Hall. Beginning at a point at the intersection of Route 165 and 
Old Shetucket Road, the district boundary extends 'to the northeast along Route 165, also 
the northern property lines of Lots 7, 9, and 23, before turning to the southeast to run 
along the northern boundary of Lot 297 to Route 164. Here the boundary crosses said route 
to continue along the the northern property line of Lots 300 and 13, At the northeast corne 
of Lot 13, the boundary returns to the south along the eastern property line of said lot to 
meet the northern (rear) property line of Lot 21, extends around said lot and returns to 
Ndrthwest Corner Road, before returning to the west along said road to a point opposite the 
eastern property line of Lot 32. At which point, the boundary crosses the road and runs 
along the the rear (eastern) property lines of Lots 32, and 26, before turning to the west 
and extending to Amos Road along the southern property line of Lot 26. Here the boundary ; 
crosses said road to encompass Lot 21 in its entirety, before returning to the east side of 
said road and running in a northerly direction up the east side of said road to a point op­ 
posite the southern property line of Lot 27, and extends in a westerly direction along said 
lot line, crosses Route 164 and turns to run in a southwesterly direction along said highway 
to the southeast corner of Lot 22. Here the boundary follows the rear property lines of said 
lot and Lot 10. At the southwest corner of Lot 10, the boundary turns agin to the northwest 
and runs along the western property line of said lot before crossing Old Shetucket Road to tl 
first point.

UTM References:

A 
B 
C 
D
E 
F

18 251240
18 251690
18 251900
18 251840
18 252030
18 252000

4601480
4601640
4601530
4601450
4601330
4601260

G 
H 
I 
J 
K 
L

18 251800
18 251740
18 251640
18 251700
18..251360
18 251360

4601390
4601180
4601200
4601380
4601400
4601460


